BEFORE THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

)

)

)

)

)

)

In the Matter of the Capital Plan Compliance Docket for Kansas City Power & Light Company and Westar Energy, Inc. Pursuant to the Commission's Order in Docket No. 18-KCPE-095-MER.

Docket No. 19-KCPE-096-CPL

SIERRA CLUB'S COMMENTS ON EVERGY'S 2022 INTEGRATED RESOURCE PLAN ANNUAL UPDATE

PUBLIC VERSION

Pursuant to the February 6, 2020 State Corporation Commission of the State of Kansas ("Commission") Order Adopting Integrated Resource Plan and Capital Plan Framework ("IRP Framework") and the Commission's July 12, 2022 Order Granting Sierra Club's Motion for Extension of Time to File Comments on Integrated Resource Plan Annual Update, Sierra Club respectfully submits these comments on the 2022 Integrated Resource Plan ("IRP") Annual Update filed by Evergy Kansas Central, Inc. and Evergy Metro, Inc. ("Evergy" or the "Company"). Sierra Club respectfully requests that the Company agree to prepare, or the Commission order the Company to prepare, a revised IRP filing that corrects the deficiencies identified herein. At a bare minimum, the Commission should order Evergy to address these deficiencies in its 2023 IRP Annual Update filing. As explained more thoroughly below, Sierra Club offers the following findings on Evergy's 2022 IRP Annual Update:

(1) Evergy should update its modeling to reflect the expanded tax credits provided in the Inflation Reduction Act ("IRA"). The IRA reflects a significant change in federal energy law that, if modeled, would be expected to change Evergy's near-term action plan by increasing deployment of solar, wind, and batteries. The Company's CEO has noted that the new law would lower the costs of new, clean energy resources.¹ Evergy's customers deserve a prompt response to this significant change in federal energy incentives. Because the IRA constitutes such a significant change in law, it would be imprudent for Evergy to wait to address the revised incentives in its next triennial IRP.

- (2) Other plans that include earlier coal retirement are lower cost than Evergy's preferred plan. The Company's preferred plan retires several units in 2039; but, the Company's modeling shows savings when retiring some units earlier, including Jeffrey 2 (2030), LaCygne 2 (2029), and Iatan 1 (2029). Instead, the Company elected to choose a high-cost plan and keep more uneconomic coal online.
- (3) Evergy's hesitation in adopting more coal retirements is risky and costly. Despite showing lower costs with advancing more coal retirements, the Company elected to keep core coal units online due to "uncertainty."² But the Company's resource plan should make the best decision given the data and market intelligence available. The Company's hesitancy is also belied by the <u>added</u> risks of keeping coal units online and Evergy's substantial capacity surplus. In addition, on August 25, 2022, the Kansas City, Missouri City Council passed the Kansas City Climate Protection and Resiliency Plan.³ Among other things, this plan calls for Evergy to retire its Hawthorn coal plant by 2025 and all other coal plants by

¹ Evergy Q2 2022 Earnings Call (edited transcript), p.6, (August 4, 2022), *available at* https://investors.evergy.com/static-files/05aaee97-fb73-4de7-8542-faf9dcb2db8f.

² Evergy Kansas Central and Evergy Metro IRP 2022 Annual Update, p. 17.

³ City of Kansas City, Missouri Press Release, *Council approves Climate Protection and Resiliency Plan*, (August 25, 2022), *available at* https://www.kcmo.gov/Home/Components/News/News/1936/625.

2030, while transitioning to renewable energy more rapidly.⁴ The City Council's actions further compel Evergy to study and adopt more near-term retirement dates.

- (4) Evergy's failure to test the going-forward value of all of its existing units fails to meet the IRP's objective of cost-minimization because Evergy's approach has shielded possible lower-cost paths from study. Accordingly, Evergy should test the selection of a preferred plan that expedites additional coal unit retirements, such as Jeffrey 1.
- (5) Evergy is still relying on hand-selected resource decisions in the short-term. The Company has partially adopted capacity expansion modeling in this IRP Annual Update. However, the decisions for when to retire coal units and the limited number of retirement year options were still pre-determined by the Company. The new capacity expansion model is mainly being used to determine what to build in the medium- to long-term. This process should be applied to add the necessary rigor to short-term retirement decisions.

(6) Evergy ** **

(7) Evergy is assuming that all new resources will be self-builds and added to rate base. This assumption ignores the prospect of power purchase agreements ("PPAs") and the potential for lower costs to customers under these arrangements. In particular, Evergy appears likely to procure new renewable resources from third parties and should account for this in its modeling.

⁴ See City of Kansas City, Missouri, *Climate Protection and Resiliency Plan, available at* https://playbook.kcmo.gov/cprp-mobilize.

- (8) The Company is assuming a ** ** premium for solar PV costs in its modeling, compared to last year's triennial IRP. We recognize that there have been supply chain issues with solar PV in the last year; yet, especially with recent policy changes, a persistent premium cannot be justified for these resources because costs are likely to be cut drastically.
- (9) The new builds chosen by the capacity expansion model are also limited because Evergy fails to consider stand-alone storage resources and solar-battery hybrid resources. These types of resources have become more prevalent in the U.S. in recent years. We understand that Evergy plans to incorporate these resources in future filings; but the Company should have considered these critical resources in its current planning.
- (10) Evergy should document and consider the public health impacts of generation portfolios as one decision metric in selecting a final preferred plan. The public health impacts of generating electricity are indisputably vast and yet Evergy failed to even consider these impacts. Evergy should update its IRP to include a metric that assesses each alternative resource plan's ("ARPs") contribution to reducing air pollution harms.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	Deficiency 1: Evergy should update its modeling to reflect current federal law on energy tax credits.	6
II.	Deficiency 2: Evergy has several lower-cost plans that retire units earlier than the preferred plan.	8
III.	Deficiency 3: Evergy's treatment of uncertainty is one-sided and biased in favor of keeping coal online.	10
IV.	Deficiency 4: Evergy should have considered more coal retirement options in its modeling	15
V.	Deficiency 5: Evergy does not present an economically optimal plan because it pre-selected portfolios to model.	17
VI.	Deficiency 6: ** **	18
VII.	Deficiency 7: Evergy should model PPAs, not assume self-build	20
VIII.	Deficiency 8: Evergy must justify its premium on solar PV costs.	22
IX.	Deficiency 9: Evergy did not model battery storage or solar-battery hybrids	22
X.	Deficiency 10: Evergy failed to evaluate the public health impacts of its ARPs.	23
XI.	Conclusion.	25

I. Deficiency 1: Evergy should update its modeling to reflect current federal law on energy tax credits.

In its 2022 IRP Annual Update, Evergy stated that "[c]hanges to tax credit eligibility of specific projects or all renewable projects can ultimately impact economics and trigger reevaluation of resource additions."⁵ Congress recently passed and President Biden signed the Inflation Reduction Act, which dramatically alters and expands federal tax credits available for zero greenhouse gas emitting facilities such as solar, wind, and batteries. Evergy should revise its modeling for this IRP Annual Update to include the expanded tax credits. Under the IRA, all zero emitting resources will be permitted to take a 30% Investment Tax Credit ("ITC") or a Production Tax Credit ("PTC") valued at \$25/MWh if the generator pays prevailing wages.⁶ Such projects are eligible for a 10% adder if the project is located in an "energy community," generally defined as one with a history of fossil fuel generation, extraction, transport, or processing, a brownfield, or where a coal-burning electric generating unit or coal mine has closed.⁷ Zero emitting resources are also eligible for an additional 10% increase to the credit if U.S. manufactured components are used.⁸ The expanded credits extend through at least December 31, 2032.⁹

Evergy should update its modeling to incorporate the Inflation Reduction Act changes for two general reasons. First, the expansion of the clean credits available is dramatic. For example, a lower PTC for wind was going to expire for projects that were started construction after 2021;

⁵ Evergy Kansas Central and Evergy Metro IRP 2022 Annual Update, p. 98.

⁶ Inflation Reduction Act, Section 13701 and 13702.

⁷ Inflation Reduction Act, Section 13701 and 13702.

⁸ Inflation Reduction Act, Section 13701 and 13702.

⁹ Inflation Reduction Act, Section 13701 and 13702.

now, wind is eligible for the full PTC through at least 2032. Evergy did not model batteries at all in its 2022 IRP Annual Update; now, batteries are eligible for a 30% ITC through at least 2032 (40% if, for example, the battery project is located at the site of a retired coal-burning electric generating unit)—which is a major shift from previous policy. Solar credits have increased back to the highest previous level of 30% for the ITC extended through 2032, rather than sunsetting. Solar projects may also elect to receive this credit using the PTC mechanism, so that utilities will be able to capture the benefits sooner than before.¹⁰ The difference between federal law and Evergy's modeling is now vast. The CEO of Evergy has acknowledged the meaningful impact of this new legislation:

We think that the provisions relating to renewables should have a beneficial impact of further reducing the cost of our expected additions for our customers. That also appears to make sort of the transferability and ability to take advantage of the PTCs and ITCs simpler, so it simplifies tax equity or other approaches. So it not only lowers the cost but increases the efficiency of some of those mechanisms. So on balance, we think it's a helpful enabler that will further reduce cost for customers as we move forward.¹¹

Given this change in the landscape, Evergy should update its modeling as soon as possible because, as explained herein, its modeling already shows a benefit to early retirement of coal and replacement with clean energy resources. Now the only uncertainty is in the magnitude of customers savings that would be expected from retiring its coal units earlier. Because the IRA constitutes such a significant change in law, it would be imprudent for Evergy to wait to address the revised incentives in its next triennial IRP.

¹⁰ Inflation Reduction Act, Section 13701 and 13702; *see also* Ethan Howland, *Senate passes Inflation Reduction Act with \$369B in energy and climate spending*, Utility Dive (August 8, 2022), *available at* https://www.utilitydive.com/news/senate-inflation-reduction-act-climate-solar-tax/629087/.

¹¹ Evergy Q2 2022 Earnings Call (edited transcript), p.6, (August 4, 2022), *available at* https://investors.evergy.com/static-files/05aaee97-fb73-4de7-8542-faf9dcb2db8f.

II. Deficiency 2: Evergy has several lower-cost plans that retire units earlier than the preferred plan.

We discuss Evergy's 2022 IRP Annual Update modeling in more detail in subsequent sections. However, even accepting Evergy's methodology and assumptions as-read, the results of its modeling do not justify the selection of its preferred plan (CDAAA), which is the sixth lowest-cost plan. This plan retires Jeffrey 2, LaCygne 2, and Iatan 1 all in 2039; but other plans modeled by Evergy show that retiring these units about a decade earlier reduces costs to customers. Figure 1 shows the ten Evergy joint company plans with early retirement dates highlighted in blue. While Evergy unfortunately only modeled limited retirement dates and combinations of unit retirements, these results indicate that the Company should have included more accelerated retirements in its preferred plan. As part of its plan, the Company noted that Jeffrey 2 was the "most economic accelerated retirement option" for earlier retirement.¹³ Indeed, there are two plans shown below where that unit retires nine years earlier (2030 versus 2039) and both plans (CBBAB and CCBAB) are cheaper than the Company's preferred plan (CDAAA).

¹² IRP Framework, Att. A, page 1.

¹³ Evergy Kansas Central and Evergy Metro IRP 2022 Annual Update, pp. 49-50.

Rank	Plan	NPVRR	Dalta	Jeffrey	Jeffrey	Jeffrey	LaCygne	LaCygne	latan 1	latan 2	Hawthorn	Lawrence	Lawrence
		(\$mm)	Delta	1	2	3	1	2			5	4	5
1	ССВАВ	\$57,291	\$0	2039	2030	2030	2032	2039	2039	2041+	2041+	2024	2023 gas
2	CCBAE	\$57,379	\$88	2039	2039	2030	2032	2039	2029	2041+	2041+	2024	2023 gas
3	CCBAD	*•	**	2039	2039	2030	2032	2029	2039	2041+	2041+	2024	2023 gas
4	CBBAB	\$57,451	\$161	2039	2030	2030	2032	2039	2039	2041+	2041+	2024	2023 gas
5	ССВАА	\$57,461	\$170	2039	2039	2030	2032	2039	2039	2041+	2041+	2024	2023 gas
6	CDAAA	\$57,541	\$250	2039	2039	2030	2032	2039	2039	2041+	2041+	2024	2023 gas
7	CCBAC	\$57,565	\$274	2039	2039	2030	2032	2039	2039	2041+	2029	2024	2023 gas
8	CBAAA	\$57,688	\$397	2039	2039	2030	2032	2039	2039	2041+	2041+	2024	2023 gas
9	BBAAA	\$57,717	\$426	2039	2039	2030	2032	2039	2039	2041+	2041+	2024	2023 gas
10	AAAAA	\$57,808	\$517	2039	2039	2030	2032	2039	2039	2041+	2041+	2024	2023 gas

Figure 1: Evergy Joint Company's Plans, Expected Value with Coal Unit Retirement Dates.¹⁴

The Company's own modeling results point to retiring Jeffrey 2 in 2030 and/or Iatan 1 and/or LaCygne 2 in 2029 although there is not a plan that tests the combination of these retirements. Yet Jeffrey 2 in particular is clearly uneconomic and should retire earlier as shown in the two lower-cost plans above and per the Company's own statements about the unit's future. Unfortunately, despite this evidence, the Company opted for a plan that extended the use of this uneconomic unit. Below, we discuss additional deficiencies with Evergy's decision-making and methodology including its flawed reasoning for failing to accelerate more coal unit retirements. The failure by Evergy to select the lowest-cost plan has the potential to cause harm to customers soon. Evergy should be immediately planning to replace units like Jeffrey 2, Iatan 1, and LaCygne 2 by 2029/2030. While, as explained below, some units could be replaced without the need for new generation, time is needed to build the resources required to replace all of Evergy's uneconomic coal units. Further, investments in Jeffrey 2, Iatan 1, and LaCygne 2 that are needed only to extend the life of these units into the 2030s should be avoided (or scrutinized heavily, at a minimum), as such spending would likely be imprudent.

¹⁴ *Id.* at pp. 53-54, 64.

III. Deficiency 3: Evergy's treatment of uncertainty is one-sided and biased in favor of keeping coal online.

Despite the strong evidence for accelerating Jeffrey 2 retirement, the Company was reluctant to include that retirement in its preferred plan because of "uncertainty over future risks which may affect which resource may retire early."¹⁵ One uncertainty Evergy mentions is replacement resource costs, focusing on price increases due to supply chain issues.¹⁶ But the recent enactment of the IRA will lead to drastic price reductions for wind, solar, and battery resources. The Company also neglected to consider Iatan 1 or LaCygne 2 for early retirement even though its modeling showed that these retirements would provide savings compared to its preferred plan. Delaying such retirement decisions in this IRP Annual Update due to "uncertainty" and "risk" appears to be a status quo bias that presupposes that keeping existing coal units online is inherently less risky. But coal generation carries costs and risks that are not inherent to other resources. For instance, renewable and storage resources do not carry environmental compliance risk, nor do they carry fuel cost risk. Further, Evergy's coal units are subject to risk associated with drought conditions in the Missouri River basin, as the North American Electric Reliability Corporation ("NERC") has highlighted as a reliability concern.¹⁷

¹⁵ Evergy response to Sierra Club Data Request 5-12.

¹⁶ Evergy Kansas Central and Evergy Metro IRP 2022 Annual Update, p. 89.

¹⁷ NERC 2022 Summer Reliability Assessment, p. 4, (May 18, 2022), *available at* https://www.nerc.com/pa/RAPA/ra/Reliability%20Assessments%20DL/NERC SRA 2022.pdf ("As drought conditions continue over the Missouri River Basin, output from thermal generators that use the Missouri River for cooling in Southwest Power Pool (SPP) may be affected in summer months. Low water levels in the river can impact generators with once-through cooling and lead to reduced output capacity. Energy output from hydro generators on the river can also be affected by drought conservation measures implemented in the reservoir system. Outages and reduced output from thermal and hydro generator could lead to energy shortfalls at peak demand. Periods of above normal wind generator output may give some relief, however, this energy is not assured. System operators could require emergency procedures to meet peak demand during periods of high generator unavailability.").

Evergy's stance on uncertainty is puzzling because its modeling methodology addresses some of these key risks head-on. The Company models multiple scenarios of gas prices, carbon prices, and load growth and assigns probabilities to low, mid, and high outcomes for each of these factors. Testing the portfolios under all of these conditions is a means to addressing these critical uncertainties, and the results of that test showed that more coal retirements are cost-effective. Moreover, continued capital investments—environmental or otherwise—in coal units also introduce further risk that these costs will be stranded if the units retire before these investments are depreciated. While investments made previously are already "sunk," future capital investments that can be avoided will prevent them from contributing further to stranded rate base. These stranded costs are a risk for coal; they are not a risk for clean replacement resources, and even less so with the passage of the IRA.

Further, the Company's preferred plan (CDAAA) leaves it with significant headroom to retire additional coal units without the need for replacement in this decade. Evergy's 2022 IRP Annual Update¹⁸ shows that the Company's joint system would be massively overbuilt with the total capacity of its new preferred plan (CDAAA) exceeding its total capacity need by as much as 1,845 MW in 2030, as shown in Figure 2.

¹⁸ Evergy 2022 IRP Annual Update Workpaper, Evergy Joint CDAAA.xlsx



Figure 2: Capacity Position in Evergy's New Preferred Plan (CDAAA)¹⁹

This amount of excess capacity in Evergy's preferred plan (CDAAA) could allow the Company to retire more units earlier without experiencing a shortfall in capacity until 2031. For illustrative purposes below, we assessed the impact of retiring Lawrence 5 in 2023 instead of converting the unit to gas (shown in blue in Figure 3), retiring Iatan 1 in 2029 (see yellow line), and retiring Jeffrey 2 in 2030 (see gray line) in addition to those retirements in the new preferred plan. The retirement of Lawrence 5 was modeled in the Company's 2021 triennial IRP—and part of its original preferred plan in that filing—and the latter two units' retirements were modeled in Evergy's 2022 Annual Update and were part of lower-cost plans than what the Company chose. These early retirements of Lawrence 5, Iatan 1, and Jeffrey 2 <u>combined</u> do not cause the joint Evergy system to experience a shortfall in capacity until 2031.

¹⁹ Id.



Figure 3: Capacity Position in Evergy's New Preferred Plan (CDAAA)²⁰ w/ Early Coal Retirements

Keeping coal online also subjects ratepayers to costs and risks, as shown in Evergy's own modeling and in the rampant coal retirements in the U.S. in the past decade—with many retirements planned for the rest of the 2020s and 2030s. The U.S. Energy Information Administration ("EIA") expects that 12.6 GW of coal will retire in 2022, more than double the capacity of coal that retired in 2021; and representing 85 percent of all generator retirements.²¹ Like all decision-makers, Evergy should make the decision based on the market intelligence available at the time. Even accepting its own analysis, including the myriad uncertainties explored in that analysis, leads to the conclusion that more coal units' retirement should be

 $^{^{20}}$ *Id*.

²¹ Energy Information Administration, *Coal will account for 85% of U.S. electric generating capacity retirements in 2022*, (January 11, 2022), *available at* https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=50838#:~:text=Coal%20will%20account%20f or%2085,generating%20capacity%20retirements%20in%202022&text=Operators%20have%20s cheduled%2014.9%20gigawatts,latest%20inventory%20of%20electric%20generators.

accelerated. Moreover, the Company has capacity headroom with which to retire more coal capacity earlier. In addition, on August 25, 2022, the Kansas City, Missouri City Council passed the Kansas City Climate Protection and Resiliency Plan.²² Among other things, this plan calls for Evergy to retire its Hawthorn coal plant by 2025 and all other coal plants by 2030, while transitioning to renewable energy more rapidly.²³ The City Council's actions further compel Evergy to study and adopt more near-term retirement dates.

By not including additional unit retirements that it has modeled (in this Annual Update and in the previous triennial IRP filing), Evergy has failed to adhere to the purpose of the IRP process, which is "to present the utility's preferred portfolio of resources . . . [that] meet[] customer requirements at the lowest reasonable cost given an uncertain future."²⁴ In combination with the deficiencies discussed throughout, the failure of Evergy to select a plan with the retirements of high-cost coal units fails to meet the IRP's fundamental policy goal of minimization of long-run utility costs. To remedy this deficiency, Evergy should select a preferred plan that includes, at a minimum, the retirement of one additional unit that has been shown to provide savings in the Company's own modeling. And, after Evergy updates its modeling to include the Inflation Reduction Act impacts, it is likely that further near-term retirements will be confirmed as cost-effective.

²² City of Kansas City, Missouri Press Release, *Council approves Climate Protection and Resiliency Plan*, (August 25, 2022), *available at* https://www.kcmo.gov/Home/Components/News/News/1936/625.

²³ See City of Kansas City, Missouri, *Climate Protection and Resiliency Plan, available at* https://playbook.kcmo.gov/cprp-mobilize

²⁴ IRP Framework, Att. A, page 1.

IV. Deficiency 4: Evergy should have considered more coal retirement options in its modeling.

The Company's approach has continually restricted early retirement options such that the Company has failed to test the going-forward value of many of its coal units. For instance, none of the plans consider retiring Iatan 2 or Jeffrey 1 earlier. Of the Company's ten coal units, all but two of the units operated with less than 60% capacity factor in 2021, continuing a trend of low operations, as depicted below in Table 1. The straight average capacity factor for the units has been 53%, which is an indicator that these units are either unavailable or uneconomic to operate on a variable basis for roughly half the time.

Capacity Factor	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
LaCygne 1	66%	38%	34%	40%	37%	43%
LaCygne 2	67%	26%	55%	54%	61%	60%
Lawrence 4	42%	46%	77%	54%	50%	52%
Lawrence 5	62%	62%	63%	58%	44%	42%
Jeffrey 1	69%	55%	66%	32%	36%	52%
Jeffrey 2	44%	65%	56%	36%	34%	48%
Jeffrey 3	55%	63%	40%	44%	43%	41%
latan 1	82%	68%	65%	42%	34%	50%
latan 2	61%	87%	50%	78%	64%	62%
Hawthorn 5	53%	64%	56%	59%	40%	53%

 Table 1: Evergy Coal Unit Capacity Factors (%)²⁵

The Company's modeling shows that it does not **

** Under what the Company considers to be the most probable scenario (mid

²⁵ Energy Information Administration, Form 923, *available at* <u>https://www.eia.gov/electricity/data/eia923/</u>.

gas prices, mid carbon prices, and mid load forecasts), its modeling shows that most units'

capacity factors are ** (see Figure 4).





While Iatan 2 has had the highest capacity factor of the fleet in recent years, Jeffrey 1 operated

infrequently, and the Company projects it to have **

**, with an average capacity factor of **

** of Jeffrey 1 once again calls into question why the Company never even tested

**. The **

retiring that unit. When asked why this option was not considered, the Company stated that:

An early retirement of Jeffrey 1 was not tested because it was impractical to consider retiring Jeffrey 1 before Jeffrey 2. Jeffrey 2 has significantly higher

²⁶ EIA Form 923, QSC5-1_CONF_Generation_EVG, QSC5-1_CONF_Max Capacity_EVG

forecasted capital spends, and thus would provide a greater cost reduction with early retirement.²⁷

Evergy's reasoning here is flawed. The fact that Jeffrey Unit 2 is less economic than Unit 1 does not impact whether Unit 1 is also itself uneconomic. Therefore, Jeffrey 1 should also be tested for early retirement.

In combination with the other deficiencies discussed throughout, the failure of Evergy to consider earlier retirement of more existing coal units, most notably Jeffrey 1, is a deficiency under the Kansas IRP Framework. Evergy cannot reasonably identify "the portfolio of resources that meets customer requirements at the lowest reasonable cost" because Evergy's approach has shielded possible lower-cost paths from study. The Kansas IRP Framework also requires alternative generation retirement date studies.²⁸ To that end, Evergy should test the selection of a preferred plan that expedites additional coal unit retirements, such as Jeffrey 1.

V. Deficiency 5: Evergy does not present an economically optimal plan because it preselected portfolios to model.

Evergy's reliance on hard-wired retirements is a deficiency under the IRP Framework because the Company failed to select the least-cost plan. Evergy's plans include only a limited set of coal unit retirement options that were pre-determined by Evergy rather than developed through an objective optimization model. Evergy has partially incorporated a capacity expansion model in this IRP Annual Update in response to previous stakeholder concerns. But this modeling was applied to pre-set retirement options that are too limited, as discussed above. Indeed, Missouri Commission Staff recently expressed concerns that Evergy was "influencing

²⁷ Evergy response to Sierra Club-5-6.

²⁸ IRP Framework, Att. A., p. 1 (an IRP is expected to address uncertainty, including "a few alternative futures, for example generation retirement").

the inputs in its modeling to get the outputs it wants" and advocated that Evergy instead "allow the capacity expansion model to develop an optimized resource plan."²⁹ The limiting of options unrealistically bias the Company's modeling to continue to favor running most of its coal generation through the 2030s. Instead, Evergy should test the value of all existing units against a robust set of replacement options using this new modeling capability—or at the very least consider more retirement year options and allow the model to select short-term replacement resources—some of which will be much cheaper due to the IRA.

As currently constructed, Evergy's modeling fails to allow for unit retirements in the most economical manner. Evergy's resource modeling could not have identified "the portfolio of resources that meets customer requirements at the lowest reasonable cost given an uncertain future"³⁰ because, as explained above, it was a subjective exercise with Evergy's thumb on the scale in favor of hard-wired retirement options. Accordingly, as presented, Evergy's preferred plan fails to find the "optimal portfolio of resources."³¹

VI. Deficiency 6: **

²⁹ Missouri Public Service Commission Case No. EO-2022-0201 & EO-2022-0202, *Staff Report and Recommendation*, Appendix A, p.9, (August 11, 2022), *available at* https://efis.psc.mo.gov/mpsc/commoncomponents/view_itemno_details.asp?caseno=EO-2022-0201&attach_id=2023003168.

³⁰ IRP Framework, Att. A, page 1.

³¹ *Id*.

^{**}Contains information that Evergy has designated as confidential and protected from public disclosure.**



VII. Deficiency 7: Evergy should model PPAs, not assume self-build.

Evergy should have also modeled PPAs in its IRP, rather than assume that all new resources were built by the Company, and therefore put into rate base.³³ The Company has issued requests for proposals in the past and is likely to do so in the future. It is unrealistic to

32

³³ Company's response to Sierra Club Data Request 5-4.

ignore the option that a third-party could build (and possibly operate) replacement resources in the future. Unfortunately, by failing to model PPAs, Evergy has failed to test the "flexibility and robustness of an optimal portfolio"³⁴ because such valid options were withheld from consideration. This approach also harms the Company's ability to find the lowest cost and reasonable plan for utility customers.

Evergy's assumption that new renewable resources were all self-build is disadvantageous in calculating the portfolios' net present value. A PPA is typically structured on a levelized cost basis, sometimes with a percentage escalation, whereas a self-build resource would have much higher costs in earlier years than in later years due to the decreasing rate base and rate of return. In addition, PPAs can take quicker advantage of tax credits, such as the ITC for solar and solar-battery hybrids (not modeled by Evergy, as discussed below), whereas Evergy assumes that the credits are spread over the 30-year project life.³⁵ The Company's approach unreasonably understates the tax credit impact for non-utility builds.³⁶ In order to capture a more realistic procurement of future PPAs, Evergy should structure some of the new resources in its model—whereas currently it is overstating the costs of these resources to customers.

The failure to adequately assess alternatives to owning new resources resulted in an IRP that fails to identify the portfolio of resources that meets customer requirements at the lowest reasonable cost. To remedy this deficiency, Evergy should model at least some new resources as PPAs, particularly renewable PPAs for which the Company is more likely to avail itself in the future. For solar and solar-hybrids, the Company should assume that the ITC is immediately built

³⁴ IRP Framework, Att. A, page 1.

³⁵ Company's response to Sierra Club Data Request 5-3.

³⁶ *Id*.

into the price per MWh, as it would be with a PPA. As mentioned previously, the impacts of the IRA should also be captured to the extent possible.

VIII. Deficiency 8: Evergy must justify its premium on solar PV costs.

Evergy is assuming a premium for solar PV and wind costs in the short-term due to supply chain issues and uncertainty caused by Department of Justice and Department of Commerce activity involving solar photovoltaic manufacturing.³⁷ For solar in particular, this adjustment leads to **

**³⁸ But there is no supporting

documentation for the particular cost adjustment, nor is there support for the assumption that supply chain issues will persist (and the passage of the IRA will reduce overall costs and aims to simplify the supply chain by directing vast resources toward domestic, clean energy manufacturing). Evergy can no longer justify a premium on these resources' costs given the recent tax policy changes. The assumed premium biased the model against solar additions, and as with other deficiencies mentioned in these comments, harmed the Company's ability to conduct cost minimization planning. Now with the IRA, even just removing the premium would not be sufficient to capture the likely impact on these clean replacement resources.

IX. Deficiency 9: Evergy did not model battery storage or solar-battery hybrids.

Evergy did not evaluate standalone or hybrid battery storage resources in its 2022 IRP Annual Update, but notes that the Company will address it in its 2023 Annual Update.³⁹ These

³⁷ Evergy Kansas Central and Evergy Metro IRP 2022 Annual Update, p. 89

³⁸ QSC5-2_CONF_Supply Side Build Costs.xlsx

³⁹ Evergy Kansas Central and Evergy Metro IRP 2022 Annual Update, p.17

resources are too important to be ignored in this annual update. Standalone storage installations have skyrocketed in recent years and will continue to increase—especially now that the IRA adds a 30% ITC incentive (40% if the battery is located at the site of a retired electric generating unit or otherwise in any "energy community" as defined by the IRA). These resources provide valuable peaking capacity and immediate grid stability response that facilitates smooth operations of the electric grid. While both solar and battery resources have become more attractive on a cost-basis in recent years, when paired together, these hybrids are valuable energy and capacity resources that utilities are increasingly looking to instead of gas-burning, peaking resources (and certainly when compared to high cost coal units). The goal of Evergy's IRP process is to achieve the "lowest reasonable cost plan given an uncertain future."⁴⁰ The failure to adequately incorporate these important resources resulted in an IRP that fails to identify a plan that is in the public interest by improperly limiting the types of resources available. To remedy this deficiency, Evergy should include battery storage and solar-battery hybrid resources as options in its modeling along with updated tax incentives.

X. Deficiency 10: Evergy failed to evaluate the public health impacts of its ARPs.

Evergy failed to evaluate public health impacts of Alternative Resource Plans ("ARPs"). As Evergy knows, electricity generation through the burning of fossil fuels, especially coal, has undeniable negative impacts on public health. To comply with the Kansas IRP Framework which requires the utility to meet "customer needs"⁴¹ at the lowest reasonable cost where one of

⁴⁰ IRP Framework, Att. A, p. 1

⁴¹ *Id*.

the needs of any customer is clean air and good health—we encourage Evergy to include quantified consideration of the health impacts of each portfolio.

Evergy should document the public health costs that various air pollutants—sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxide, particulate matter, and mercury—have on public health, which include increased instances of asthma attacks, respiratory infections, hospital admissions, missed school and work days, and a variety of other health problems.⁴² Air pollution contributes significantly to increased morbidity and mortality, and existing modeling tools can be used to translate air pollution into social cost estimates.

Further, Evergy should consider the environmental justice implications associated with its ultimate selection of its preferred plan because the communities that are harmed most by persisting reliance on coal-burning power plants are the communities who should benefit the greatest from reduced emissions, coal retirements, and investments in renewable energy. Evergy cannot simultaneously claim to be acting in the best interests of its customers if the Company does not evaluate how resource plans directly impact them. The current IRP Annual Update inadequately prioritizes these issues. Evergy cannot continue to ignore the externalities that its generating units cause, and should take care to consider the distinct communities whose health is affected by the continued operation of the Company's coal plants. To remedy this deficiency, Evergy should document the public health impacts of its ARPs and consider relying on public health as one factor in ranking its resource plans.

⁴² See, e.g., EPA, Sulfur Dioxide Basics, *available at*: <u>https://www.epa.gov/so2-pollution/sulfur-dioxide-basics</u> (summarizing public health harms from SO₂); *see also* EPA, Ground-level Ozone Basics, *available at*: <u>https://www.epa.gov/ground-level-ozone-pollution/ground-level-ozone-basics#effects</u> (summarizing public health harms from ozone).

XI. Conclusion.

Sierra Club appreciates the opportunity to engage in Evergy's IRP process and respectfully requests that the Company agree to prepare, or the Commission order the Company to prepare, a revised IRP filing that corrects the deficiencies identified herein. At a minimum, the Commission should order Evergy to address these deficiencies in its 2023 IRP Annual Update filing.

Respectfully submitted,

Dated: August 29, 2022

Teresa Woody Kansas Appleseed twoody@kansasappleseed.org

Tony Mendoza Senior Attorney Environmental Law Program Sierra Club tony.mendoza@sierraclub.org

Tyler Comings and Joshua Castigliego Applied Economics Clinic, on behalf of Sierra Club tyler.comings@aeclinic.org joshua.castigliego@aeclinic.org

Sunil Bector Senior Attorney Environmental Law Program Sierra Club <u>sunil.bector@sierraclub.org</u>

Ashley Soliman Legal Assistant Environmental Law Program Sierra Club ashley.soliman@sierraclub.org

VERIFICATION

STATE OF MISSOURI) COUNTY OF JACKSON)

I, Teresa A. Woody, of lawful age and being duly sworn, state and affirm the following: that I am counsel for Sierra Club; I have read and reviewed the above and foregoing Petition; and the contents thereof are true and correct to the best of my information, knowledge, and belief.

Teresa A. Woody

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN before me this 29st day of August, 2022.

Notary Public

My commission expires:

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify that on this 1st day of November, 2021, a true and correct copy of the above and foregoing Sierra Club's Comments on Evergy's 2021 Integrated Resource Plan was electronically delivered to the following individuals, who constitute the

service list for Docket No. 19-KCPE-096-CPL:

JOSEPH R. ASTRAB, ATTORNEY CITIZENS' UTILITY RATEPAYER BOARD 1500 SW ARROWHEAD RD TOPEKA, KS 66604 j.astrab@curb.kansas.gov

TODD E. LOVE, ATTORNEY CITIZENS' UTILITY RATEPAYER BOARD 1500 SW ARROWHEAD RD TOPEKA, KS 66604 <u>t.love@curb.kansas.gov</u>

DAVID W. NICKEL, CONSUMER COUNSEL CITIZENS' UTILITY RATEPAYER BOARD 1500 SW ARROWHEAD RD TOPEKA, KS 66604 <u>D.NICKEL@CURB.KANSAS.GOV</u>

SHONDA RABB CITIZENS' UTILITY RATEPAYER BOARD 1500 SW ARROWHEAD RD TOPEKA, KS 66604 <u>s.rabb@curb.kansas.gov</u>

DELLA SMITH CITIZENS' UTILITY RATEPAYER BOARD 1500 SW ARROWHEAD RD TOPEKA, KS 66604 <u>d.smith@curb.kansas.gov</u>

DOROTHY BARNETT CLIMATE & ENERGY PROJECT PO BOX 1858 HUTCHINSON, KS 67504-1858 <u>barnett@climateandenergy.org</u>

CATHRYN J. DINGES, SR DIRECTOR & REGULATORY AFFAIRS COUNSEL EVERGY KANSAS CENTRAL, INC 818 S KANSAS AVE PO BOX 889 TOPEKA, KS 66601-0889 Cathy.Dinges@evergy.com

CATHY DINGES, ATTORNEY EVERGY METRO, INC D/B/A EVERGY KANSAS METRO One Kansas City Place 1200 Main St., 19th Floor Kansas City, MO 64105 <u>Cathy.Dinges@evergy.com</u>

ROGER W. STEINER, CORPORATE COUNSEL EVERGY METRO, INC D/B/A EVERGY KANSAS METRO One Kansas City Place 1200 Main St., 19th Floor Kansas City, MO 64105 <u>roger.steiner@evergy.com</u>

CONNOR A THOMPSON, ATTORNEY FOULSTON SIEFKIN LLP 7500 COLLEGE BOULEVARD, STE 1400 OVERLAND PARK, KS 66201-4041 <u>cthompson@foulston.com</u>

JAMES P ZAKOURA, ATTORNEY FOULSTON SIEFKIN LLP 7500 COLLEGE BOULEVARD, STE 1400 OVERLAND PARK, KS 66201-4041 jzakoura@foulston.com

TERRY M. JARRETT, Attorney at Law HEALY LAW OFFICES, LLC 3010 E BATTLEFIELD SUITE A SPRINGFIELD, MO 65804 terry@healylawoffices.com

HEATHER H STARNES, ATTORNEY HEALY LAW OFFICES, LLC 12 Perdido Circle Little Rock, AR 72211 <u>heather@healylawoffices.com</u>

BRIAN NOLAND IBEW LOCAL 304, KANSAS CITY, MO 117 W. 20th St., Ste. 201 Kansas City, MO 64108 <u>noland.brian@gmail.com</u>

JOHN GARRETSON, BUSINESS MANAGER IBEW LOCAL UNION NO. 304 3906 NW 16TH STREET TOPEKA, KS 66615 johng@ibew304.org

KIMBERLY B FRANK, COUNSEL K&L Gates, LLP 1601 K STREET NW WASHINGTON, DC 20006 <u>Kimberly.Frank@klgates.com</u>

NATHAN HOWE K&L Gates, LLP One Newark Center 1085 Raymond Blvd. Newark, NJ 07102 Nathan.howe@klgates.com

TERESA A. WOODY KANSAS APPLESEED CENTER FOR LAW AND JUSTICE, INC. 211 E. 8th Street Suite D Lawrence, KS 66044 twoody@kansasappleseed.org

BRIAN G. FEDOTIN, GENERAL COUNSEL KANSAS CORPORATION COMMISSION 1500 SW ARROWHEAD RD TOPEKA, KS 66604 <u>b.fedotin@kcc.ks.gov</u>

MICHAEL NEELEY, LITIGATION COUNSEL KANSAS CORPORATION COMMISSION 1500 SW ARROWHEAD RD TOPEKA, KS 66604 m.neeley@kcc.ks.gov

SUSAN B. CUNNINGHAM, SVP, Regulatory and Government Affairs, General Counsel KANSAS ELECTRIC POWER CO-OP, INC. 600 SW CORPORATE VIEW PO BOX 4877 TOPEKA, KS 66604-0877 <u>scunningham@kepco.org</u>

MARK DOLJAC, DIR RATES AND REGULATION KANSAS ELECTRIC POWER CO-OP, INC. 600 SW CORPORATE VIEW PO BOX 4877 TOPEKA, KS 66604-0877 mdoljac@kepco.org

REBECCA FOWLER, MANAGER, REGULATORY AFFAIRS KANSAS ELECTRIC POWER CO-OP, INC. 600 SW CORPORATE VIEW PO BOX 4877 TOPEKA, KS 66604-0877 rfowler@kepco.org

JAMES GING, DIRECTOR ENGINEERING SERVICES KANSAS POWER POOL 100 N BROADWAY STE L110 WICHITA, KS 67202 jging@kpp.agency LARRY HOLLOWAY, ASST GEN MGR OPERATIONS KANSAS POWER POOL 100 N BROADWAY STE L110 WICHITA, KS 67202 <u>lholloway@kpp.agency</u>

TIMOTHY J LAUGHLIN, ATTORNEY LAUGHLIN LAW OFFICE, LLC 1248 E SLEEPY HOLLOW DRIVE OLATHE, KS 66062 <u>tim.laughlin22@gmail.com</u>

TIMOTHY S. MAIER, GENERAL MANAGER MCPHERSON BOARD OF PUBLIC UTILITIES 401 W KANSAS AVE PO BOX 768 MCPHERSON, KS 67460 TIMM@MCPHERSONPOWER.COM

WILLIAM DOWLING, VP ENGINEERING & ENERGY SUPPLY MIDWEST ENERGY, INC. 1330 CANTERBURY DRIVE PO BOX 898 HAYS, KS 67601-0898 BDOWLING@MWENERGY.COM

PATRICK PARKE, CEO MIDWEST ENERGY, INC. 1330 Canterbury Rd PO Box 898 Hays, KS 67601-0898 patparke@mwenergy.com

ASHOK GUPTA, EXPERT NATIONAL RESOURCES DEFENSE COUNCIL 20 N WACKER DRIVE SUITE 1600 CHICAGO, IL 60606 agupta@nrdc.org ANNE E. CALLENBACH, ATTORNEY POLSINELLI PC 900 W 48TH PLACE STE 900 KANSAS CITY, MO 64112 <u>acallenbach@polsinelli.com</u>

FRANK A. CARO, ATTORNEY POLSINELLI PC 900 W 48TH PLACE STE 900 KANSAS CITY, MO 64112 <u>fcaro@polsinelli.com</u>

ANDREW O. SCHULTE, ATTORNEY POLSINELLI PC 900 W 48TH PLACE STE 900 KANSAS CITY, MO 64112 <u>aschulte@polsinelli.com</u>

ROBERT V. EYE, ATTORNEY AT LAW ROBERT V. EYE LAW OFFICE, LLC 4840 Bob Billings Pkwy, Ste. 1010 Lawrence, KS 66049-3862 <u>BOB@KAUFFMANEYE.COM</u>

SCOTT L. BROWN SCOTT L. BROWN, Attorney 475 New Brotherhood Bldg. 753 State Avenue Kansas City, KS 66101 slb@blake-uhlig.com

SUNIL BECTOR, ATTORNEY SIERRA CLUB 2101 WEBSTER, SUITE 1300 OAKLAND, CA 94312-3011 sunil.bector@sierraclub.org

TONY MENDOZA SIERRA CLUB 2101 WEBSTER, SUITE 1300 OAKLAND, CA 94312-3011 tony.mendoza@sierraclub.org

DAVID RICHARDSON, SR. FINANCIAL ADVISOR THE COUNCIL FOR THE NEW ENERGY ECONOMICS 1390 YELLOW PINE AVENUE BOULDER, CO 80304 <u>david.richardson@newenergyeconomics.org</u>

ROBERT TITUS, ATTORNEY TITUS CONNORS, LLC 6600 W 95TH STREET, SUITE 200 OVERLAND PARK, KS 66212 <u>rob@tituslawkc.com</u>

J.T. KLAUS, ATTORNEY TRIPLETT, WOOLF & GARRETSON, LLC 2959 N ROCK RD STE 300 WICHITA, KS 67226 jtklaus@twgfirm.com

KACEY S MAYES, ATTORNEY TRIPLETT, WOOLF & GARRETSON, LLC 2959 N ROCK RD STE 300 WICHITA, KS 67226 <u>ksmayes@twgfirm.com</u>

TIMOTHY E. MCKEE, ATTORNEY TRIPLETT, WOOLF & GARRETSON, LLC 2959 N ROCK RD STE 300 WICHITA, KS 67226 <u>TEMCKEE@TWGFIRM.COM</u>

FRED WICKHAM WICKHAM & WOOD, LLC 107 W. 9th Street, 2nd Floor Kansas City, MO 64105 <u>fred@wickham-wood.com</u>

BRIAN WOOD

WICKHAM & WOOD, LLC 107 W. 9th St., 2nd Flr. Kansas City, MO 64105 <u>brian@wickham-wood.com</u>

Date: August 29, 2022

Teresa A. Woody